**RECEIVED**

JUN 30 2021

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA**

**In The Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT**

S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

---

Case No. 14-ALJ-17-0552-CC

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-000031

Lowe's Home Centers, LLC

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue

Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Burnet R. Maybank, III, SC Bar No. 3699  
Rick Reames III, SC Bar No. 68327  
Jim Rourke, SC Bar No. 79879  
NEXSEN PRUET, LLC  
1230 Main Street, Suite 700 (29201)  
Post Office Drawer 2426  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
Telephone: (803) 771-8900

## I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) err in concluding that the final agency determination (the “Final Determination”) issued by the South Carolina Department of Revenue (the “Department”) properly assessed additional sales tax and interest against Lowe’s Home Centers, LLC (“Lowe’s”) <sup>1</sup> on the materials it used to complete its real property improvement contracts (the “Installation Contracts”) during the tax period of August 1, 2008 through July 31, 2011 (the “Audit Period”)?
  - a. Did the ALC err in construing and applying S.C. CODE ANN. § 12-36-110 (2014) in concluding that the Installation Contracts were taxable retail sales of tangible personal property by Lowe’s to customers under the general definition of “retail sale” instead of real property improvements?
  - b. Did the ALC err in concluding that the “primary objective” of the Installation Contracts was to facilitate a retail sale of tangible personal property to customers and, as a result, recharacterizing the contracts as a taxable retail sale of tangible personal property by Lowe’s (as retailer) to customers and a nontaxable sale of installation services by Lowe’s (as contractor) for goods owned by the customer?
  - c. Did the ALC err in disregarding the terms of the Installation Contracts in concluding that customers who entered into the contracts purchased tangible personal property instead of real property improvements?
  - d. Did the ALC err in concluding that the taxable value of the materials used to perform the Installation Contracts was the retail selling price?
2. Did the ALC err in concluding that the issue of whether the Department erred in calculating the “fair market value” of the materials used to perform the Installation Contracts is moot?
3. Did the ALC err in concluding that Lowe’s’ claim that the Department’s Final Determination results in it – as a contractor – being treated differently from (and less favorably than) other South Carolina contractors in violation of the Equal Protection Clause is moot?

---

<sup>1</sup> Lowe’s Home Centers, Inc. converted to Lowe’s Home Centers, LLC, effective November 1, 2013. Lowe’s Home Centers, Inc. was the taxpayer during the tax period at issue in this appeal. For all purposes, Lowe’s Home Centers, LLC, is the successor in interest to Lowe’s Home Centers, Inc.

## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. INTRODUCTION

This appeal seeks clarification regarding the proper interpretation of certain South Carolina sales tax statutes and regulations. At issue is the following question: What sales tax responsibility did Lowe's have when, during the Audit Period, it incorporated items of tangible personal property ("TPP") into customers' real property in South Carolina to perform real property improvements via Installation Contracts?

It is undisputed that Lowe's operates *two* different lines of business. First, Lowe's owns and operates stores nationwide where it sells home improvement products and building materials to customers at retail. In addition to – and separate and distinct from – its retailing activities, Lowe's operates a nearly \$5 billion line of business where it regularly enters into Installation Contracts with customers to perform real property improvements by permanently affixing items of TPP, such as flooring, cabinets, and roofing, to customers' real property. Thus, the ALC found that Lowe's is *both a contractor and a retailer*. And, the Department and ALC both admitted that nothing in the South Carolina sales tax code or regulations prohibits a retailer from also acting as a contractor. Indeed, S.C. CODE ANN. REGS. § 117-324 (2012) expressly recognizes the concept of a "Dual Business": "*[o]perators of businesses who are both making retail sales and withdrawing for use from the same stock of goods* are to purchase at wholesale all of the goods so sold or used and report both retail sales and withdrawals for use under the sales tax law." *Id.* (the "Dual Business Regulation") (emphasis added).

Furthermore, it is undisputed that the South Carolina sales tax statutes and regulations treat traditional retail sales of TPP differently from real property improvement contracts. For traditional retail sales, the *customer* is the final consumer and user of TPP, and the taxable retail sale is the sale of TPP to the *customer*. As a result, sales tax is due on the gross proceeds

the *customer* paid to acquire the property. However, for real property improvement contracts, because the TPP is incorporated into real estate and loses its character as TPP, the *contractor* is the final consumer and user of the TPP used to perform the improvement. The taxable retail sale is the sale of TPP to the *contractor*.<sup>2</sup> Thus, sales tax is due on the gross proceeds the *contractor* paid to acquire the property required for the project. The customer to the contract receives a nontaxable real property improvement, not TPP.<sup>3</sup>

Under S.C. CODE ANN. § 40-11-20 (2011) and S.C. CODE ANN. REGS. § 117-314.2 (2012), Lowe's was a "contractor" engaging in "general construction" when installing real property improvements for customers pursuant to its Installation Contracts. Under the contracts, title to the items of TPP remained with Lowe's until *after* they were incorporated into and became part of real property. In its capacity as a contractor, Lowe's was the end user and purchaser of the materials. As a contractor, Lowe's' purchases of materials used in the Installation Contracts were retail sales under S.C. CODE ANN. § 12-36-110 (2014) at either section (1)(a), encompassing the sale of building materials to construction contractors for resale or use in the form of real estate, or section (1)(e), addressing sales to contractors for use in the performance of construction contracts. As such, there were no retail sales of TPP to customers pursuant to the Installation Contracts. Therefore, customers who contracted for and received the real property improvements were not charged sales tax on those contracts because there was no transfer of TPP. Like other contractors performing real property improvements, Lowe's owed

---

<sup>2</sup> A contractor is considered the final consumer of TPP because the TPP is converted to real property once it is installed. See *Hercules Contractors & Engineers, Inc. v. S.C. Tax Comm'n*, 280 S.C. 426, 435, 313 S.E.2d 300, 306 (Ct. App. 1984).

<sup>3</sup> See *Springs Indus., Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 99-ALJ-17-0153-CC (S.C. Admin. Law Ct. Nov. 9 1999), *aff'd* S.C. Dep't of Revenue v. *Springs Indus., Inc.*, No. 2003-UP-029 (Ct. App. 2003). Charges to customers for building materials used to make a real property improvements are not subject to sales tax. See Private Letter Ruling 07-4 (S.C. Dep't of Revenue (July 13, 2007)).

tax on the gross proceeds it paid suppliers to procure the materials used in the Installation Contracts because it was the last to use the TPP before it was incorporated into and became part of real estate.

Generally, contractors pay sales tax on the amount paid to acquire TPP used to perform real property improvements at the time of acquisition. However, the Dual Business Regulation *requires* “dual businesses” that serve as retailers and contractors, like Lowe’s, to purchase all TPP as if it were at wholesale and without paying sales tax upon acquisition. Thus, Lowe’s remitted use tax on the cost paid to acquire the TPP at the time it used and consumed the property in the course of performing its Installation Contracts. The payment of use tax comes out of Lowe’s pocket as opposed to sales tax, which may be passed on to the consumer. If Lowe’s had not complied with the Dual Business Regulation, it would have purchased identical property at the same cost price and remitted sales tax at the time of purchase. Just like other similarly situated high-volume purchasers, Lowe’s receives discounts from vendors based on the volume of items it purchases. If Lowe’s adherence to the Dual Business Regulation was incorrect, the Department’s remedy should have been to charge Lowe’s sales tax on the cost price Lowe’s paid to acquire the materials. However, both the Department and the ALC concluded that Lowe’s, which merely complied with the Department’s administrative guidance, should have to pay sales tax on a higher tax base than the original cost price.

**B. PROCEEDINGS BELOW**

The Department audited Lowe’s Installation Contracts to determine what was the taxable retail sale and the gross proceeds subject to sales tax. *Without ever seeing or reviewing the Installation Contracts*, the auditor who completed the audit initially issued a proposed assessment based on the theory that the contracts were two separate transactions: a taxable retail sale of TPP by Lowe’s to the customer, and a nontaxable sale of installation services by Lowe’s for items

owned by the customer. But subsequently, the Department issued its Final Determination dated October 24, 2014, in which the Department concluded that the Installation Contracts were real property improvements and Lowe's was the final consumer and user of the items of TPP used to perform the contracts. The Department ultimately determined that, in accordance with S.C. CODE ANN. § 12-36-110(c) (2014), the taxable retail sale occurred in the form of a "deemed sale" of the materials by Lowe's to itself upon the withdrawal, use, or consumption of the materials by Lowe's during performance of the real property improvements. However, the Department claimed that Lowe's was not a "true contractor." It concluded that Lowe's underpaid sales tax because the gross proceeds subject to tax should be based on the "fair market value" of the materials under section 12-36-90(1)(c) (2014) as measured by a 40% markup from Lowe's' acquisition price to the retail pricing (i.e., the price Lowe's would have charged if it had sold the materials at retail to customers outside of an Installation Contract).

On November 21, 2014, Lowe's timely requested a contested case hearing to challenge the additional sales tax, interest, and penalties assessed in the Department's Final Determination. The ALC held a hearing in the matter on April 20, 2016, which was continued and completed on June 7, 2016.

In the contested case hearing, both the Department and Lowe's agreed that the taxable retail sale was the sale of TPP to Lowe's. The sole issue for the ALC to determine was the amount of gross proceeds subject to tax. Namely, whether (as Lowe's asserted) the company owed tax based on the cost it paid vendors to acquire the materials used in the Installation Contracts or whether (as the Department asserted) Lowe's owed tax based on "full retail".

The ALC issued a Final Order on December 11, 2020. In the Final Order, the ALC rejected the Department's interpretation in the Final Determination,<sup>4</sup> but upheld the Department's assessment against Lowe's of sales tax and interest on the independent basis that the Installation Contracts involved taxable retail sales of TPP by Lowe's to customers. (ALC Order pp. 19, 30, R. pp. 20, 31). The ALC concluded that Lowe's' Equal Protection claim was moot. (*Id.* p. 28, R. p. 29). Finally, "acknowledg[ing] the complexity of the issues presented," the court declined to uphold all penalties. (*Id.* p. 30, R. p. 31).

Pursuant to Rule 203, SCACR, Lowe's timely served and filed a notice of appeal in this Court on January 8, 2021.

### III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts of this case are not in dispute.

#### A. LOWE'S' OPERATIONS

Lowe's is a limited liability company organized under North Carolina law with its principal place of business in Mooresville, North Carolina. (Joint Ex. 20 (Lowe's 2011 10-K) p. 1, R. p. 609; ALC Order p. 3, R. p. 4). The company operated between 40 and 42 store locations in South Carolina during the Audit Period. It did not own or operate a regional distribution center in South Carolina in the relevant period. (4/20/16 T. p. 34 lines 3-11 & p. 64 lines 11-13, R. pp. 69, 99; ALC Order p. 3 n.7, R. p. 4).

Lowe's primarily engages in "two categories of business": (1) traditional retail sales of home improvement products and building materials, which do not require contracts; and (2) residential real property improvements performed via Installation Contracts. (4/20/16 T. p. 35 line

---

<sup>4</sup> The Department's interpretation that the Installation Contracts were retail sales under S.C. CODE ANN. § 12-36-110(c) (2014) and should be taxed based on fair market value under S.C. CODE ANN. § 12-36-90(1)(c) (2014) is erroneous. *See infra*, pp. 41-46, Also, it violates Lowe's right to equal protection. *See infra*, pp. 46-50.

22 – p. 36 line 18, R. pp. 70-71; ALC Order pp. 3-4, R. pp. 4-5). Lowe’s first began its contractor line of business in the mid-1990’s. (4/20/16 T. p. 36 line 19 – p. 37 line 6 & p. 71 lines 12-15, R. pp. 71-72, 106; ALC Order p. 4, R. p. 5). During that time, Lowe’s began to analyze how to treat its Installation Contract transactions for sales and use tax purposes in the various states where it operated. (4/20/16 T. p. 37 lines 3-8, p. 71 lines 12-19 & p. 75 lines 3-19, R. pp. 72, 106, 110).

Lowe’s denied that the “primary reason a customer comes to Lowe’s is to purchase [TPP].” Given the company’s dual business lines, some customers go to Lowe’s to make traditional retail purchases, while others go to purchase real property improvements. (4/20/16 T. p. 108 lines 8-16, R. p. 143) (“[T]hey have a need and the Lowe’s associate is empowered to determine what that need is and we’re going to satisfy the customer. It could be that all they need is a purchase of tangible personal property, it could be they want a new roof on their house.”).

When a customer makes a traditional retail purchase of TPP, he selects the product, takes it to a checkout counter, and the cashier scans the item’s barcode to register it into the point of sales system. The store’s computer system calculates the sales tax based on the price of the item charged to the customer. The customer tenders payment of the item’s price and the corresponding tax, at which point “title to the tangible personal property transfers to the customer.” Lowe’s remits sales tax to the Department based on the final price paid by the customer. The entire transaction is conducted over the counter without a contract. (4/20/16 T. p. 38 lines 2-22, R. p. 73; ALC Order pp. 3-4, R. pp. 4-5).

Installation Contract transactions are, however, “substantially different.” When a customer purchases a home improvement, Lowe’s and the customer enter into a single, written contract at a department service station (as opposed to a checkout counter) located in the store. At the service station, the parties define the scope of the project. Lowe’s often charges a detail fee to send a

subcontractor to the customer's home to take detailed measurements. The customer selects the types of materials to be installed, and a description of the project is entered into Lowe's' computer system. A contract is generated, which contains: (a) the type and estimated quantity and estimated price of the property to be affixed to the customer's real estate; (b) the estimated cost of the labor to install the property; (c) the lump-sum price Lowe's will charge for furnishing the real property improvement; and (d) terms and conditions of the contract. A Lowe's employee signs the contract on behalf of Lowe's. The customer also signs the contract. He then proceeds to the checkout register, where the cashier processes the transaction and collects full payment for the Installation Contract. The customer is not charged sales tax. He leaves the store without title or possession of TPP; instead, he possesses a contractual right to receive a future real property improvement. When the customer accepts the installation as complete (by signing a Certificate of Completion), Lowe's pays the subcontractor. (4/20/16 T. p. 38 line 23 – p. 41 line 9 & p. 46 line 1 – p. 47 line 3, R. pp. 73-76, 81-82; ALC Order p. 4, R. p. 5). Lowe's remits use tax to the Department at the time it uses the materials to perform the Installation Contracts based upon the acquisition cost it paid to vendors. (4/20/16 T. p. 48 lines 2-16 & p. 79 line 14 – p. 80 line 1, R. pp. 83, 114-115; ALC Order p. 6, R. p. 7).

With respect to its Installation Contracts, Lowe's acts as a "contractor" or "general contractor." Accordingly, Lowe's holds itself out to the public not only as a retailer, but also as a contractor working with subcontractors to provide real property improvements. For instance, the company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 3, 2012 states:

We offer installation services through independent contractors in many of our product categories, with Flooring, Millwork and Cabinets & Countertops accounting for the majority of sales. Our Installed Sales model, which separates selling and project administration tasks, allows our sales associates to maintain their

focus on project selling, while project managers ensure that the details related to installing the products are efficiently executed.

(Joint Ex. 20 (Lowe's 2011 10-K) p. 7, R. p. 615). Also, throughout the Audit Period, Lowe's was licensed with the South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation. Lowe's was initially licensed as a Residential Builder and then a General Contractor. (Joint Ex. 33 (Contractor Licenses), R. pp. 890-898; 4/20/16 T. p. 44 line 12 – p. 45 line 5 & p. 117 lines 5-11, R. pp. 79-80, 152).

The ALC rightfully found, "Lowe's is both a contractor and a retailer based on the evidence presented." (ALC Order pp. 8-10, 18, R. pp. 9-11, 19). It "[a]cknowledge[d] that nothing in the South Carolina statutes prohibits a retailer from also acting as a general contractor." (*Id.* at p. 25, R. p. 26). The Department agreed. (4/20/16 T. p. 227 lines 14-24, R. p. 262).

Lowe's' contractor business accounted for approximately 6% of total sales or nearly \$5 billion during the Audit Period. (Joint Ex. 20 (Lowe's 2011 10-K) p. 7, R. p. 615). As part of that business, Lowe's competes with other contractors on price. (4/20/16 T. p. 55 line 5 – p. 56 line 22, R. pp. 90-91). If Lowe's is taxed on a markup of its cost to acquire TPP used under its Installation Contracts, it will have a cost disadvantage. (*Id.* at p. 56 line 23 – p. 58 line 2, R. pp. 91-93).

**B. INSTALLATION CONTRACTS**

Lowe's offers Installation Contracts for "just about every home improvement there is," from built-in "appliance[s] to much more involved and complex projects like the installation of new flooring, windows, roofing, or the complete remodel of a kitchen, bathroom, or other room." (ALC Order p. 4, R. p. 5; 4/20/16 T. p. 37 line 14 – p. 38 line 1, R. pp. 72-73).

Nationwide, Lowe's uses a standardized form for its Installation Contracts. (4/20/16 T. p. 43 lines 4-17, R. p. 78; ALC Order p. 4 n.10, R. p. 5).<sup>5</sup> The Installation Contracts provide:

Lowe's agrees to sell the goods and/or materials (the "Goods") *and* the services to install same (the "Installation Services") . . . for the stated *total cash price* (the "Price") and according to the specifications and other provisions of the Contract documents, including (a) this Contract form, (b) the Addendum, if and to the extent applicable, (c) and any attached sketches, material lists, floor plans, and/or specification sheets.

(Joint Ex. 34 p. 4, R. p. 903; Joint Ex. 35 p. 4, R. p. 909). Thus, the Installation Contracts are lump-sum agreements that require Lowe's to provide *both* the labor and materials necessary to complete the real property improvement for one fixed, lump-sum price. The customer pays the fixed, lump-sum amount before Lowe's begins performance of the real property improvement. (*Id.*; 4/20/16 T. p. 43 line 18 – p. 44 line 11, R. pp. 78-79). The estimated price shown on the Installation Contracts for the materials component of the project is not necessarily the retail price; "it can be any price [Lowe's] deem[s]." Also, the estimated price for the materials is not necessarily higher than Lowe's cost. (4/20/16 T. p. 88 line 16 – p. 89 line 7, R. pp. 123-124).

Further, the Installation Contracts provide that Lowe's will be the general contractor and subcontract the installation services:

Customer authorizes Lowe's (a) to arrange for the Installation Services to be performed by an experienced independent contractor (the "Installer") (licensed when legally required), (b) to issue a work order to the Installer to perform the Installation Services, (c) to inspect the Installer's work, and (d) to pay the Installer after completion of the work and after receipt of a certificate, signed and dated by Customer, that the work has been satisfactorily completed (the "Certificate of Completion").

(Joint Ex. 34 p. 4, R. p. 903; Joint Ex. 35 p. 4, R. p. 909).

---

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