**RECEIVED**

**Jun 29 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

---

Case No. 2014-ALJ-17-0552-CC

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-000031

---

Lowe’s Home Centers, LLC.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue.....Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Nicole M. Wooten, Esquire  
SOUTH CAROLINA  
DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE  
300-A Outlet Point Boulevard  
Post Office Box 12265  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
Telephone: (803)898-1826  
[Nicole.Wooten@dor.sc.gov](mailto:Nicole.Wooten@dor.sc.gov)

##

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

#### ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the ALC’s decision because the ALC’s findings of fact are supported by the substantial evidence in the record and there are no errors of law. While Lowe’s argues this Court should employ certain rules of statutory interpretation, these rules are inapplicable where - as here - the language of the statutes and regulations at issue is plain and unambiguous. Nevertheless, even if the statutes are ambiguous, the Department is charged with administering the statutes and regulations at issue. Thus, the Department’s construction of the statutes and regulations is entitled to deference and should not be overruled absent compelling reasons. *Kiawah Development Partners, II v. S.C. Dep’t of Health and Envtl. Control*, 411 S.C. 16, 34, 766 S.E.2d 707, 718 (2014) (noting that South Carolina courts “give deference to agencies both because they have been entrusted with administering their statutes and regulations and because they have unique skill and expertise in administering those statutes and regulations.”).

Finally, although the ALC based its decision on a different legal theory than presented by the Department in its Determination and during the hearing below, the result under either analysis is entirely consistent: the sale of materials to Lowe's customers for use in the installation contracts is a retail sale in South Carolina. Because the sale of materials to Lowe's customers is a retail sale, Lowe's is responsible for remitting sales tax on the materials based upon the purchase price paid by its customers.

**I. Lowe's is responsible for sales tax and interest on the retail sales of tangible personal property (materials) sold to Lowe's customers in conjunction with the installation contracts.**

**A. A retail sale occurs when Lowe's customers purchase materials to be used under the installation contracts.**

Under South Carolina law, a sales tax of six percent on "the gross proceeds of sales, is imposed upon every person<sup>4</sup> engaged or continuing within this State in the business of selling tangible personal property at retail." S.C. Code Ann. §§ 12-36-910(A), 12-36-1110 (2014). "Retailers" are defined as every person "selling or auctioning tangible personal property whether owned by the person or others." S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-70(1)(a) (2014). Lowe's operates retail stores in South Carolina and is in the business of selling tangible personal property within this State. Tangible personal property, as defined under the South Carolina Sales and Use Act, means "personal property which may be seen, weighed, measured, felt, touched, or which is in any other manner perceptible to the senses . . . ." S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-60 (2014). The materials used in Lowe's installation contracts are clearly tangible personal property within the meaning of § 12-36-60. In this matter, Lowe's does not challenge that it is a retailer operating within South Carolina. (R. p. 122, 237; Hr'g Tr. 87:12-13; 202:2-4.) Thus, as a

---

<sup>4</sup>For sales and use tax purposes, the term person "includes any individual, firm, partnership, limited liability company, association, corporation, receiver, trustee, any group or combination acting as a unit, the State, any state agency, any instrumentality, authority, political subdivision, or municipality." S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-30 (2014).

retailer in South Carolina, Lowe's is subject to sales tax on the gross proceeds of its sales.<sup>5</sup> §§ 12-36-910(A), 12-36-1110 (2014).

Lowe's held a General Contractor license from SCDLLR for a portion of the Audit Period. (R. p. 11; Final Order, p. 10.) Thus, the question before the ALC was in what capacity did Lowe's perform or operate during the installation contracts in this matter.<sup>6</sup> As described below, the ALC correctly determined that the sale of "materials at the retail price by Lowe's to the customer as the final user and consumer of the materials installed pursuant to the installation contracts constitutes the last transfer of the materials for consideration and falls within the general definition of a retail sale" under South Carolina law. (R. p. 26; Final Order, p. 25.)

1. Lowe's actions determine the true nature of the installation contracts.

In this appeal, Lowe's primarily argues it is a contractor engaging in general construction when installing real property improvements for its customers under the terms of the installation contracts; thus, under Lowe's argument, the "retail sale" is the purchase of materials by a contractor. First, Lowe's only held its SCLLR-issued contractor's license for approximately 2 months of a 36-month audit period. The fact that Lowe's did not have this license at the time most of the installation contracts at issue were made illustrates that Lowe's is not relying on the contractor's license when it asserts that it was a contractor for the entire Audit Period. Moreover, Lowe's – acting as a retailer – purchases materials at wholesale from a vendor, sells those same materials at retail (approximately a 40% markup) to its customers, and subsequently sub-contracts with a 3<sup>rd</sup> party to install the materials

---

<sup>5</sup>Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-950 (2014), "[i]t is presumed that all gross proceeds are subject to the tax until the contrary is established" and the burden of proof for this establishment lies with the seller.

<sup>6</sup>Interestingly, Lowe's did not have this license at the time most of the installation contracts at issue were made, and thus, Lowe's did not rely on this license for the vast majority of the transactions at issue in this matter.

as part of the installation contract. Accordingly, the ALC correctly concluded the retail sale in this matter did not occur when Lowe's purchased materials at wholesale from its vendors (R. p. 20; Final Order, p. 19.)

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-110 defines "retail sale" as "all sales of tangible personal property except those defined as wholesale sales." While the statutes and regulations recognize that a retailer such as Lowe's can also hold a contractor's license, it cannot act as a General Contractor and retailer in the same transaction. Here, Lowe's actions establish that the transaction in which the customer purchases material *at retail* from Lowe's as part of the installation contract is a retail sale. First, Lowe's purchases both stock and special order materials used in the installation contracts from its vendors at wholesale – meaning free of any sales tax at the time of purchase. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 12-36-120 (providing that wholesale sales means the sale of tangible personal property to a licensed retail merchant and does not include sales to users or consumers not for resale); *PalmettoNet, Inc. v. S.C. Tax Comm'n*, 318 S.C. 102, 106, 456 S.E.2d 385, 388 (1995) ("Wholesale sales are not subject to sales tax."); *see also Stanton Quilting Co., Inc. v. S.C. Tax Comm'n*, 281 S.C. 133, 314 S.E.2d 844 (1984) (holding that "the intent of the legislature was to exempt from sales tax sales to buyers who purchase for resale, not as consumers or for use themselves"). Lowe's acknowledged purchasing all stock material with the intent to resell those materials in either a traditional retail sale or through an installation contract. (R. pp. 129-130; Hr'g Tr. 94:5-95:2.)

Under South Carolina law, contractors are not permitted to extend or accept resale certificates because they are required to pay sales tax on all of their purchases at the time of purchase – every purchase a contractor makes is a retail sale because the contractor is the end user or consumer.<sup>7</sup>

---

<sup>7</sup>For example, Lowe's acknowledges that when it purchases inventory, such as a dishwasher, that could be used in a stock installation contract and is also sold to customers in a traditional retail sale (without installation), it does not designate at the time of purchase from the vendor which dishwasher will be used in a stock installation contract and which dishwasher will be sold on the floor

As noted by the ALC, in order to obtain a resale certificate from the Department, a taxpayer (including Lowe's), "must certify that as a purchaser acquiring tangible personal property from a supplier, the taxpayer is engaged in the business of selling personal property of the type he is acquiring from that vendor and that, unless otherwise specified, all property being acquired from the vendor will be resold." (R. p. 24; Final Order, p. 23.) Further, the taxpayer acknowledges that if the tangible personal property is withdrawn for use and not sold, the taxpayer must remit sales tax based upon the "reasonable and fair market value[.]" *Id.* Finally, when the taxpayer extends the resale certificate, he recognizes he is legally liable for the sales and use tax on the transaction.

Lowe's does not dispute that it purchased all materials used in the installation contracts at wholesale, free of tax, by extending its resale certificate. (R. pp.128-129, 138; Hr'g Tr. 93:15-94:3, 103:14-17.) When extending the resale certificate to the vendors, Lowe's certified that it was purchasing these materials for resale. (R. p. 24; Final Order, p. 23.) Thus, Lowe's knew it would be required to remit sales tax on the fair market value of the materials when those materials were subsequently used or sold to its customers as part of the installation contracts. *See ARA Servs., Inc. v. S.C. Tax Comm'n*, 271 S.C. 146, 150, 246 S.E.2d 171, 172 (1978) (finding the sale of meals to a college where students subsequently purchased the meals from the college was "not the last transfer of the meals for consideration, and thus w[as a] wholesale transaction[]").

The fact that Lowe's customer pays the retail price for each material separate from the cost of the installation services establishes that the relevant transaction for sales tax purposes is the retail sale from Lowe's to its customer. The customer is paying the retail price of the materials (40% markup above Lowe's cost) "separate and apart from the fees and costs associated with the installation

---

in a traditional retail sale. This is further evidence that Lowe's is not acting as a contractor when it purchases the materials from vendors. Such material is be held for "resale" by Lowe's, and this is in direct contravention of § 12-36-120(1) (defining "wholesale sale").

services.” (R. p. 21; Final Order, p. 20.) Simply put, each customer’s sales transaction is a retail sale subject to sale tax and is based upon the retail price paid to Lowe’s by the customer.

Next, Lowe’s argues the installation contracts are conveyances of real property improvements to customers rather than retail sales of materials. As support for its assertion, Lowe’s points to the terms and conditions of the installation contract which state title to the materials purchased by the customer remains with Lowe’s until after the materials have been installed and incorporated into the customer’s home. However, the materials are carefully chosen by a customer “in a retail setting, purchased by the customer at the retail price, and, at the direction of the customer, installed in his or her home.” (R. p. 22; Final Order, p. 21.) Further, the record evidence establishes that both average retail customers not buying an installed item, as well as installation contract customers often leave the store without the materials he or she purchased and therefore taking possession is not determinative of the applicable tax rate.<sup>8</sup> In either of these transactions, the customer pays full retail price for the items chosen and “leaves the store without physical possession of the materials purchased. This is especially true with the traditional retail sale of SOS materials because Lowe’s does not have these materials in stock and must order the materials from a vendor on behalf of the customer. (R. p. 135; Hr’g Tr. 100:10-15.) As the ALC correctly concluded, when a customer purchases SOS materials through a traditional retail sale, it is undisputed that a retail sale occurs when the customers pays for the materials at the cash register, and the customer holds title to the SOS materials. “It matters not that he leave the store without physical possession” of the materials. (R. p. 23; Final Order, p 22.)

Finally, Lowe’s installation services is *solely contingent* upon the customer purchasing the materials from Lowe’s. As concluded by the ALC, the fact that Lowe’s strict policy of refusing

---

<sup>8</sup>Significantly, in a traditional retail sale the customer may choose to have the items or materials he purchased either picked up or delivered at a later time. (R. pp. 149-150; Hr’g Tr. 114:1-115:16.) For SOS materials, a customer may only take physical possession once Lowe’s orders and subsequently receives the specially-ordered materials. (R. p. 22; Final Order , p. 21.)

installation services unless the customer purchases the materials from Lowe's confirms Lowe's "primary objective in offering these ancillary services [is] to facilitate a retail sale to customers." (R. p. 21; Final Order, p. 20.). Because Lowe's will not offer installation services to customers who do not purchase the materials from Lowe's, "it is illogical to conclude, as [Lowe's] does, that the purchase of the materials is simply subsumed into the service portion of the installation contract." (R. p. 21; Final Order, p. 20.) Moreover, once a customer signs the installation services contract, the "labor" portion of the contract is performed entirely by a Lowe's 3<sup>rd</sup> party installer. No employee of Lowe's performs any service with regard to the contracting portion of the contract. *See* R. pp. 74, 144; Hr'g Tr. 39:3-41:4; 109:10-13 (Lowe's witness testifying that even the initial measurements prior to execution of installation service contract are taken by the 3<sup>rd</sup> party installer); R. pp. 81-82; Hr'g Tr. 46:1-47:3 (Lowe's witness testifying that 3<sup>rd</sup> party installer performs installation service). The purpose of Lowe's operations – including its installation services – is to facilitate a retail sale to its retail customers.<sup>9</sup> Thus, the ALC correctly concluded that the purchase of the materials by the customer and withdrawn or used by Lowe's in the installation contracts to be the "crux" of the retail sales transaction. *Id.*

Accordingly, Lowe's own actions establish that it acts as a retailer for sales tax purposes in the installation contracts. The fact that Lowe's can operate as a retailer or a contractor "at distinct times during the installation contract transaction does not . . . affect the nature of the underlying transaction; it remains a retail sale."<sup>10</sup> (R. p. 27; Final Order, p. 26.) Accordingly, this Court should affirm the

---

<sup>9</sup>*See* R. p. 722; Ex. 22, p. 1; R. p. 725; Ex. 23, p.1 ("Lowe's retail customers include individual homeowners and renters who complete a wide array of projects from do-it-yourself (DIY) to do-it-for-me (DIFM)." (emphasis added).

<sup>10</sup>Lowe's complains the Auditor did not initially review the installation contracts prior to issuing the proposed notice of assessment.

First, the Department conducted a prior audit (for the audit period March 1, 2002 to February 28, 2005) of Lowe's for the same issue, and after reviewing the contracts during the prior audit, reached

ALC as the Department properly assessed Lowe's for the additional sales tax on the materials used in the installation contracts during the Audit Period.

2. S.C. Code Ann. Reg. 117-324 (Dual Business Regulation) does not apply to contractors.

In its brief, Lowe's asserts that it purchases installation contract materials as a contractor despite extending its resale certificate to purchase those materials at wholesale from the vendors. Notably, wholesale purchases of building materials by a contractor is directly prohibited by S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 117-314.1-117-341.2 (providing that contractors are required to purchase materials at retail price and to pay tax on that higher retail price at the time of purchase). Nevertheless, Lowe's cites to the Dual Business Regulation as support for its assertion that it was required to purchase the installation contract materials at wholesale using its resale certificate:

Operators of businesses who are both making retail sales and withdrawing for use from the stock of goods *are to purchase at wholesale all of the goods so sold or used* and report both retail sales and withdrawals for use under the sales tax law.

---

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